Autocratic, Democratic and Laissez-Faire Leadership Styles: Is there a link between these Leadership Styles and Absenteeism/ Withdrawal Amongst Millennials?

By Fiona Houlihan

National College of Ireland

A dissertation submitted in part fulfilment of the requirements for the

MA in Human Resource Management

Submitted to the National College of Ireland (May 2020)

Abstract

Fiona Houlihan

Autocratic, Democratic and Laissez-Faire Leadership Styles: Is there a link between these Leadership Styles and Absenteeism/ Withdrawal Amongst Millennials?

The aim of this study is to look at democratic, autocratic and laissez-faire leadership styles against counterproductive work behaviour, specifically absenteeism/ withdrawal amongst the millennial cohort.

Counterproductive work behaviour results in a huge cost to the Irish economy on a yearly basis. Coming to work late, leaving early and taking longer than allowed lunch breaks result in a cost to the organisation. These are behaviours that most organisations, small, medium or large would experience at some level. There are a number of factors that attribute to counterproductive work behaviour such as stress, workload and personality.

This study identifies the leadership style of the respondent's manager against absenteeism/ withdrawal behaviour of the participant in order to identify if there a link. Furthermore, the study looks, within the parameters of the questions asked, what the most popular type of absenteeism is and frequency is. In addition, the study looks at which leadership style experiences counterproductive work behaviour most regularly.

Millennials as a cohort were chosen due to the size of this group currently in employment and at the right level to partake in the study.

Submission of Thesis and Dissertation

National College of Ireland

Research Students Declaration Form

(Thesis/Author Declaration Form)

Name: Fiona Houlihan

Student Number: 18163378

Degree for which thesis is submitted: MA in Human Resource Management

Title of Thesis: 'Autocratic, Democratic and Laissez-Faire Leadership Styles: Is there a link between these Leadership Styles and Absenteeism/ Withdrawal Amongst Millennials?'

Date: 4th May 2020

Material submitted for award

A. I declare that this work submitted has been composed by myself.

B.I declare that all verbatim extracts contained in the thesis have been distinguished by quotation marks and the sources of information specifically acknowledged.

C.I agree to my thesis being deposited in the NCI Library online

open access repository NORMA.

D. *Either* *I declare that no material contained in the thesis has been

used in any other submission for an academic award.

Or *I declare that the following material contained in the thesis

formed part of a submission for the award of

MA In HRM _____

(State the award and the awarding body and list the material below)

Acknowledgements

I am incredibly grateful to my supervisor Karen Murray for her support and speedy responses throughout this process.

To my husband, James who is always there for me.

I would like to thank all the participants who took time from their busy days and personal lives to help me, without their support, I would not have been able to complete this.

Contents:

1.	Introduction	1
2.	Literature Review	3
2.1	Overview	3
2.2	Defining the age of the Millennial	3
2.2.1	Understanding the Millennial	3
2.2.2	Why Millennials	4
2.2.3	The Millennials in the Workplace	5
2.3	Leadership Styles	6
2.3.1	Autocratic Leadership Style	7
2.3.2	Democratic Leadership Style	8
2.3.3	Laissez-Faire Leadership Style	9
2.3.4	The Lippit and White Study (1939)	9
2.4	Counterproductive Work Behaviour (CWB)	11
2.4.1	What is CWB	11
2.4.2	CWB and Leadership Styles	12
3.	Research Question	14
3.1	Sub-questions	14
4.	Methodology	15
4.1	Overview	15
4.2	The Delivery	15
4.2.1	Pilot Approach	15
4.2.2	Sample	16
4.3	The Process	16
4.3.1	Step 1: Verifying the Millennial	16
4.3.2	Step 2: Identifying Leadership Styles	17
4.3.3	Step 3: CWB	18
4.4	Additional Questions	19
4.5	Data Protection	19
4.6	Ethical Consideration	20
5.	Analysis and Findings	21
5.1	Introduction	21
5.1.2	Overview	22
5.2	CWB	23
5.3	Absenteeism/ Withdrawal: Leadership Style	23
5.3.1	Autocratic Leadership Style	24
5.3.2	Laissez-Faire Leadership Style	26
5.3.3	Democratic Leadership Style	28
5.4	Additional Questions	29
5.5	Sub Questions	31
5.6	Similarities from Results	34
5.7	Outcomes	35
5.8	Limitations	35

6.	Discussion	37
6.1	Future Research	38
6.2	Recommendations and Implications	38
7.	Conclusion	41
8.	Reflection	42
Refere	ences	43
Apper	dices	
•••	dix A Counterproductive Work behaviour checklist	52
•••	dix B Leadership Questionnaire	55
Apper	dix C Additional Questions	56
List of	Tables	
Table	1: Leadership Style Responses	22
Table	2: Leadership Style Responses Breakdown	23
Table	3: Autocratic Leadership style: Question Breakdown	24
Table	4: Laissez-Faire Leadership style: Question Breakdown	26
Table	5: Democratic Leadership style: Question Breakdown	28
Table	6: Breakdown: Additional Question 4: Agree: Disagree	30
Table	7: Breakdown: Additional Question 4: Agree: Smaller Sample Size	30
Table	8: Breakdown: Additional Question 4: Disagree: Smaller Sample Size	31
Table	9: Absenteeism/ Withdrawal V's Leadership Style: All Respondents	32
Table	10: Absenteeism/ Withdrawal V's Leadership Style: Smaller Sample Size	33
Table	11: Common Form of Absenteeism/ withdrawal	33
Table	12: Common Form of Absenteeism/ withdrawal: Smaller Sample Size	34

List of Acronyms

- CWB Counterproductive work behaviour
- CSO Central Statistics Office

1. Introduction

The research area of leadership is vast, leadership styles in itself returns results on numerous studies. However, leadership is intriguing, a skill not all possess but can be priceless when 62undertaken correctly within an organisation. Leadership is a process where a person can influence another to achieve the intention of the group or the organisation (Shackleton 1995). There is a difference between a good leader and a bad leader, the good leader encourages and motivates and a bad leader can create a negative environment, which can result in negative behaviour. Furthermore, good and bad leaders can have lasting effects on people.

As the world of work has evolved so have leadership styles which is representative in the amount of research undertaken in this area. For example, autocratic leadership is quite a strict leader and withholds information from the employee (Lewin et al, 1939), possibly to maintain the power. Some of the traits of the autocratic leader are quite dated for example, according to Fiaz (2017), this leadership style applies penalties when mistakes are made and ignores the employee in order to make them feel guilty for that mistake or encourages them with rewards. The democratic leader would be very different to the autocratic leader, this leader likes the group and encourages individuals creating a good sense of trust (Lewin et al, 1939) and then we have the laissez-faire leadership style, which is very hands off and offers freedom to the employee (Lewin, 1939).

How one responds to being managed is also a very interesting topic, and very vast with a number of variables to consider such as personality and stress. One leadership style may bring the best out in person but the worst out in another, which may result in counterproductive work behaviour (CWB). CWB can be described as the objective to damage or harm an organisation (Fox et al, 2001). CWB is a general term, which encompasses a number of behaviours such as bullying, sabotage and absenteeism. Taking just absenteeism into consideration, which also includes withdrawal, that being late or absent (Fox et al, 2012). This form of CBW occurs quite regularly and has a cost of €1.5 billion a year to the Irish economy according to Daly (2018) furthermore approximately 4 million days a year are lost due to this according to the Small Firms Association (2015). This a significant cost to the economy and businesses alike and an issue most companies would experience at some level and some frequency, either by employees coming late to work, leaving work early or taking extended lunch breaks without permission.

Millennials are currently the largest group employed in the USA, with approximately 56 million people falling into this category (Fry 2018), if we now consider Ireland with a population of 4.7million (CSO, 2017), a figure that has consistently increased since 1971 (CSO, 2017), the amount of millennials currently in employment is increasing. This is a powerful group that organizations can learn from, not just to attract talent but to keep talent, as this cohort knows what they want in an employer and will move jobs quickly to get it.

According to a report by IBM (2015) an inspiration leader was identified as what millennials want. This trait was chosen ahead of work life balance and innovation in the workplace. Understanding that the millennial is looking for can only but add to a business as it will create the environment a millennial wants to work in. Bringing us back to leadership styles and what type of leader offers the traits that the millennial is looking for. In order to support this, one considers if there is a leadership that does not meet the needs of millennial could that result in CWB and particularly absenteeism/ withdrawal behaviour?

This piece of research looks to use millennials as the cohort, the aim is to identify what leadership style the millennials manager is, autocratic, democratic or laissez-faire. It was decided to progress with these three styles of leadership as these three have been in studies since the 30's. In addition, the definition of each of these styles are easy to understand and there appears to be a clear boundary between each type. In order to identify the leadership style of the millennials leader, a multifactor leadership questionnaire (Northouse, 2011) was used in addition, a counterproductive checklist developed by Spector et al (2006) was also utilised in order to investigate the CBW of the millennial. The view was to identify if there was a link to CWB based on the leader style of the participant.

Based on the information provided by the participants, the results look at which leadership style experiences the most CBW, what is the most regular form of absenteeism/ withdrawal and if there is a link between absenteeism/ withdrawal and leadership style.

2. Literature Review

2.1 Overview

This chapter looks at information on other studies related to this area. The chapter is divided in a number of subheadings as per title. As this study is looking at leadership styles and if there is a link with CWB using millennials as the sample, the literature review is based on these three main headings.

The chapter will initially look at millennials under the following subheadings: defining the age of the millennial, understanding the millennial, why millennials and millennials in the workplace.

The chapter then looks at leadership styles and is divided up based on the following headings: An overview, the Leadership styles, The Lewin, Lippit and White (1939) Study. The chapter will then move into counterproductive work behaviour (CWB), what it is and then CWB and leadership styles.

2.2 Defining the age of a Millennial

Smola and Sutton (2002) define millennials as those born from 1979 to 1994 and at the time that paper was published this cohort was entering the workforce. Kadakia (2017) defines millennials as those born between 1981 and 1996 whereas Weinbaum (2016) as part of a study with the National Defence defines millennials as those born between 1980 and 2004.

There is a slight discrepancy between the dates representing this cohort and so, for the purpose of this piece of research we will identify millennials as those born between 1981 and 1996 which would include individuals that were aged from 23 years old to 38 years old in 2019.

2.2.1 Understanding the Millennial

Wood (2019) writes an interesting piece on the millennial giving good insight into their behaviour, explaining how millennials were raised by baby boomers, which resulted in a parenting style that encouraged the millennial to give their opinion and be involved in the decision making process within the home. This behaviour is mirrored in a paper by Carter and Walker (2018), who outlines that the millennial employee wants, not only to be part of, but to be essential to the team. In short, the millennial likes to be involved in the decision making process and generally be involved. Wood (2019) further outlines how millennials, more often challenge authority and choose a specific type of employment to make them happy rather than just the salary, they are looking for the work life balance. This is further illustrated in a study undertaken by IBM (2015), which identified that millennials want an inspirational leader and they put this ahead of innovation and collaboration in the workplace. Both studies have the same theme running through.

Furthermore, Wood (2019) also discusses how millennials have a different view to money than other generations as they do not have the same economic security as their parents, resulting in them owning a home much later than other generations and having large debt.

This results in the millennial depending or needing support from their parents in the form of living with them for longer or financial assistance. Although the millennial wants a certain lifestyle, they are comfortable with debt and it is not uncommon for them to move around employment more freely than other generations.

2.2.2 Why Millennials

Millennials appear to be a very popular cohort to research, there is an overwhelming amount of publications, papers and reports on this group representing various interesting topics, indicating there is a pool of information to pull from.

According to Carter and Walker (2018) millennials represent the first group to grow up with the internet, technology and immediate access to news. The concept of immediate access to information has led researchers to take the view that millennials are different from other working generations that have gone before them, such as the Generation Xers - just before the millennials or the baby boomers born between 1946 and 1964 (Smola and Sutton 2002). Which further makes this a very interesting group to research from the perspective of their needs and wants. Furthermore, according to Fry (2018) millennials are now the largest generation currently in employment in the US, equating to 56 million in this group, it is the largest generational section with 2.5 billion people (Weinbaum et al, 2016). In addition, according to Pfau (2016) at the time of that report, millennials made up the majority of the 30,000 employees at KPMG, which aligns to the prediction that 75% of the workforce would be millennials by 2025 (Deloitte, 2014). According to Zenger (2012) based on a database of 17,000 people worldwide who were undertaking leadership training, the average age of a supervisor was 33, which shows that millennials are also at management level and so would have the relevant experience to partake in this study. According to the most recent Central Statistics Office (CSO) census taken in 2016, the population of Ireland, at that time, was 4.7 million (CSO, 2017). It can be assumed that this number has increased as based on research undertaken by the CSO (2011) the population in Ireland has continually increased year on year since 1971. In addition, according to the CSO (2020), the total number of people in employment in Ireland in quarter4 in 2019 was 2,361,200, with the overall employment rate of 70.2% for people aged between 15-64 years old. From this, we understand that there is a large number of millennials currently in employment in Ireland.

These figures highlight the power of this group and the potential impact this group can have and so further encourages deeper understanding of this cohort. In addition, it also shows us how large this cohort is and highlights the sizable number that is in employment and who are within scope for this piece of study. It also shows that there is a large enough group within the millennial cohort who are the correct level required for this study, that being the experience of having a manager. Furthermore, whilst researching the leadership styles and counterproductive behaviour (CWB) there seemed to be limited research/ studies which identified millennials as a specific cohort to study within this topic.

2.2.3 The Millennial in the Workplace

It is clear how large this group is and the power that the millennial has. Singh et al (2012) discusses the benefits of understanding what millennials are looking for in a workplace and how this information can be incorporated into the organisation strategy and core values. The benefit of implementing this information into the core of the organisation will interest and attract the millennial enabling the organisation to grow as it will be meeting the needs of the millennial.

According to the study undertaken by IBM (2015) which addressed millennials in the workplace, the research identified that millennials found that an inspirational leader is a necessity and the millennial put requirement ahead of innovation, work life balance and collaboration in the workplace. Wood (2019) further adds that millennials are looking for purpose-driven employment.

The IBM (2015) study also found that millennials favoured a leader who is ethical and fair along with being transparent and dependable, over a leader who recognises accomplishments. The importance of leader transparency is further reflected in a study undertaken by Zaharee *et al* (2018) in addition, poor management was cited as a reason for leaving an organisation. Interestingly Singh et al (2012) undertook a study on millennials to identify what they deemed important within the workplace, encouraging innovation and idea generation scored the highest. Interestingly, the IBM (2015) study also found that millennials change employers for the same reasons as other generations for example, career progression, money and passion for the work.

Signh et al (2012) outlines results from a study undertaken which highlights the type of employer a millennial would work for which include a humble leader, feedback, work as mentors and open and approachable.

We understand that the millennial is motivated and know what they want, according to a study undertaken by American Express (2017) from 2,300 millennials leaders and future managers surveyed from both Europe and the US 70% outlined that they aspired to work at a C-Suite level.

Although we have heard how different millennials are from other generations, interestingly their work needs are the same as the other generational employees - they will not stay in an organisation if they are not happy (Wood, 2019) which goes against Smola and Sutton (2002), this study outlines how different millennials are to generation Xers. In addition, Signh et al (2012) outlines millennials will leave an employer if the organisation exhibits a negative

working environment, toxic boss, work pressure or unfair treatment. Which is in line with the needs of the other working generations.

Carter and Walker (2018) outlines that the millennial employee wants to be essential to the team, a point that Wood (2019) mirrors, outlining that they want to be part of a solution. This is similar to Myers and Sadaghiani (2010) who discuss millennial workplace expectations and how millennials like open and regular feedback.

In addition, according to the study undertaken by Singh et al (2012) providing feedback is also highlighted as a value of a workplace, this point is further supported by Kadakia (2016) who backs the notion that millennials need more feedback from their manager.

Millennials are an interesting bunch, from research it appears they are not very different from the other cohorts; however, there are discrepancies between the research on this point. If they are not happy they will leave, they want an inspirational leader that is respected and who will provide feedback. Feedback with the intention to support and progress the millennial.

2.3 Leadership Styles:

There are some individuals who reflect on their working career and can identify specific leaders who have made a positive impact and those who have had a negative impact. A good leader can have long lasting positive effects on an employee, just as a bad leader can negatively affect an employee and the working environment.

Wu et al (2018) identifies a link between employees who experience destructive leadership and then adopt avoidant behaviour. Whereas Sulea *et al* (2013) undertakes a study with results that indicated employees who perceive their manager as abusive, are more likely to partake in CWB. Both these studies indicate there is a behavioural response from the employee due to leadership style. However, it must be taken into account that the sample used in both these studies were not millennials.

Leadership is an interesting topic to research as there is so much work on this area. Leadership theories have evolved and grown as the research has developed, moving from leader-centred approach to situational approach more recently. The main leadership theories include; The Great Man theories which is based on the idea that leaders are special people with intuitive qualities (Bolden et al, 2003), Trait Theories which relate to the traits/ characteristics of leaders (Bass, 1990), Behaviourist theories which relates to how the leader acts (Bass, 1981), Contingency theory, which looks at traits that identifies which style will work in a certain situation (Fiedler, 1967), Transactional Theory looks at the relationship between leader and subordinate as transactional in terms of recognition (Bass, 1990) and Transformational theory which identifies the leader as the person to implement a change (Burns, 2003).

The research has shown that millennials want an inspirational and fair leader who will give feedback, keeping them motivated. A good leader is key within an organisation. In order for an organisation to successfully implement its strategy and create a culture, it requires leaders.

The leader must understand the core values and beliefs of the organisation in order to align oneself and move with organisation and the strategy, whilst also encouraging motivation amongst employees. Motivation amongst employees is dependent upon the leadership style (Friaz, 2017). Dionne *et al* (2002) outlines how leadership is important to the performance and satisfaction of employees. Similar to George (1995) who identifies the link between a leader's positive mood and how this can predict group performance. A good leader can bring a group together.

The link between these papers relates to the leader being equipped to positively influence a group. The definition of leadership seems to have a number of slightly different meanings attached, the most common understanding is that leadership is a process where one person influences others to achieve the goals of the group or organisation (Shackleton, 1995).

Lewin et al (1939) developed what is now a well-known and established model of leadership that has been used repeatedly since its development and is regularly cited. The study highlighted three leadership styles which were autocratic, democratic and laissez-faire.

2.3.1 Autocratic Leadership Style

According to Lewin et al (1939) this is a strict leader who outlines the work, there is an element of unknown from the employee as this leader does not always give all the information and can be somewhat aloof with the employees. This is quite an interesting trait, this leader appears to withhold information, for the benefit of themselves, somewhat a power move (Lewin et al ,1939). The employee does not enjoy much freedom and this leader can have short-lived success in terms of productivity and discipline, which can disappear as this leader is not always present. Which may also affect the trust between leader and employee.

In addition, Fiaz (2017) further explains how this approach puts more emphasis on production and less on the employee, the concept based on the assumption that people are considered to be lazy and untrustworthy. Likert's (1961) management system describes autocratic leadership as an exploitative- authoritative structure where direction and power comes from the top, with poor communication and no regard for teamwork (cited in Fiaz et al 2017). Puni *et al* (2016) further adds, that the autocratic leader relies on authority and control and manipulation in order to complete the task or job at hand.

Through this systematic leadership approach penalties are applied when mistakes are made and sanctions can be made through making the employee feel guilty or withholding attention Fiaz (2017). The motivation from an autocratic leader is in the form of economic incentives based on performance and development comes from hard work (Fiaz, 2017). Interestingly according to a study undertaken by Signh et al (2012) if we consider some of the main themes identified from researching millennials in the workplace, feedback, inspirational leaders and being part of the team were determined. It would seem that these traits would not be present in the style of an autocratic leader, in addition this leadership does sound somewhat dated.

2.3.2 Democratic Leadership Style

Lewin et al (1939) describes this leader as very much about the group and encourages group discussion and offers advice and alternatives, the employee does have freedom and is informed, which instils trust. There is a good relationship between this leader and the employees (Lewin et al, 1939). These are some of the key traits identified as attributes a millennial would look for in a leader.

Furthermore, Bhatti et al (2012) adds to this by explaining that there is more interaction within the group as there is more focus on people which is very different to the autocratic leadership approach. The democratic leader is more part of the group themselves. As previously cited, Carter and Walker (2018), outlined that the millennial wants, not only to be part of, but to be essential to the team.

Smolovic-Jones et al (2016) describes the democratic leadership style as based on the assumption that people are trustworthy and motivated and like responsibility which in turn creates teamwork and high performance and job satisfaction. This being the opposite of the autocratic leader. According to a study based on the workplace requirements of millennials, by Signh et al (2012) encouraging innovation and idea generation scored the highest, this is a trait that would be representative of a democratic leader. There appears to be key traits of this leadership style that the millennial would appreciate and thrive from.

2.3.4 Laissez-Faire Leadership Style

According to Lewin et al (1939), this style of leader gives a lot of freedom to the employee allowing them to make decisions themselves. The leader does not really participate and would not comment on employees activities unless asked – very much a hands off approach (Lewin et al, 1939).

Fiaz (2017) explains that the laissez faire leadership approach is not based on performance or people but on the assumption that people are uncontrollable and unpredictable and so why spend time trying to understand these habits. This leader keeps a low profile, stirs away from disruption and relies on a few loyal employees to complete the task or get the job done. The laissez faire leader works with whatever structure is in place and only enforces goals when required. It is no surprise to learn that development amongst employees is not of concern of the laissez faire leader (Friaz, 2017).

Diebig and Bormann (2020) further discusses how the laissez-faire leader is not present and so is not available to offer advice or guidance when the employee needs this, resulting in stress. Diebig and Bormann (2020) undertook a study around laissez-faire leadership and the effects of stress on the employee. In addition, the IBM study (2015) outlined that millennials look for a leader who is dependable.

There would be elements of this leadership style the millennial would appreciate such as the freedom to make decisions however there is a fundamental lack of leadership. A hands off approach may not provide the inspirational leadership style the millennial is looking for. In addition the lack of development support would not be in line with feedback the millennials want in order to progress.

2.2.5 The Lewin, Lippit and White (1939) Study

Lewin et al (1939) undertakes research on the three leadership styles and how the participants react to laissez-faire, democratic and autocratic with interesting outcomes. There are a number of thoughtful controls put in place for the paper.

The research found that hostility was 30 times more frequent in the group with the autocratic leader than the democratic leader. Furthermore, aggression was 8 times as frequent, interestingly the aggression was aimed towards other participants and not the autocratic leader. Furthermore, the research found that the majority of participants liked the democratic leader more than the autocratic leader, with a high number also liking the laissez -faire leadership approach (Lewin et al, 1939).

This is a really interesting piece of research that offers a basis to understand the leadership styles and how people respond to each leadership type. However, the participants involved in this study were children, and although a very relevant piece of research, it was undertaken during the 30's which is a very different cohort to our group - the millennials.

Fiaz (2017) also undertakes a piece of research based on the three different types of leadership style, the cohort in the study were high to middle level managers in the emerging economy of Pakistan. This study finds that the autocratic leadership approach has a negative link with employees' motivation, which would be in line with Lewin et al (1939). Interestingly, Fiaz (2017) found that the democratic leadership style did not have a positive impact on employee motivation which would be different to Lewin et al (1939), considering the traits of the democratic leader this outcome is interesting. Furthermore, the Fiaz (2017) study also found that the laissez faire leadership style approach had a positive impact on employee motivation, similar to Lewin et al (1939) where by the outcome was also positive towards the laissez-faire leader.

The discrepancies may be a result of the cohort sampled. The Fiaz (2017) study was based on a bureaucratic environment and so those sampled could not make decisions themselves. Interestingly Fiaz (2017) does highlight that there is a place for each type of leadership style approach.

Despite two completely different samples used in both mentioned studies, there are still similarities with the outcomes. Which is actually really interesting.

Since the development of the Lewin, Lippit and White Model of Leadership (1939), other researchers have further developed leadership theories and added to the three leadership styles. Cowen (2018) gives an overview of the now eight types of leadership styles, which include, pace-setter, autocratic, democratic, servant, transformational, transactional and charismatic however the article does not discuss the destructive leadership style.

For the purpose of this paper, we will concentrate on the leadership styles of laissez-faire, democratic and autocratic. The reason for this is that these three styles are the basis of leadership theories and there are clear definitions and explanations of each type. Furthermore the leadership styles which were developed later, appear to have very fine definitions dividing them, for example Frooman et al (2012), describes transactional leadership as encompassing four dimensions, which are individualised consideration, inspirational motivation, intellectual stimulation and idealised influence.

Considering there is an understanding of what a millennial looks for in a leader, that being an individual that is inspirational, fair and provides feedback, there is the question as to what happens if the leader does not meet the needs or does not possess the traits required of the millennial.

2.4 Counterproductive Work Behaviour (CWB)

According to Coffin (2003) CWB, specifically theft and fraud costs US businesses approximately €50 billion annually whereas Currier (2018) outlines that absenteeism costs the US €225.8 billion annually. Mercer (2012) outlines that staff who come to work late costs the UK economy £9million annually.

Daly (2018) outlines that CWB, specifically absenteeism costs the Irish economy up to €1.5 billion a year, in addition, McCumiseky (2018) reports that approximately 11 million workdays are lost to absenteeism every year. Furthermore, according to a report undertaken by the Small Firms Association (2015), in 2014 €490 million is what absenteeism cost small business per annum, this equated to 4,052,222 working days lost in Ireland.

These figures show a significant impact and cost to the economy and highlights why this topic is of interest and of benefit in order to understand this type of behaviour with the intent to reduce if not eliminate it.

2.4.1 What is CWB?

Spector and Fox (2002) describe counterproductive work behaviour (CWB) as the intent to harm the organisation or other employees, this can include sabotage, theft, absenteeism and physical/ verbal hostility. Whereas Qui and Peschek (2012) describe CWB as intentionally undermining a group's effort, a definition which could apply to not only to an organisation but another group type. In addition, Chang and Smithikrai (2010) identifies CWB as intentional acts, which go against the interest of the organisation, furthermore, Fox et al (2001), describes CWB as the intent to have a harmful effect on the organisation.

Although there are slightly different understandings of the term CWB, there seems to be a common theme between these descriptions, that being intent or purpose with a negative effect on the organisation.

Spector *et al* (2006), suggests there are five types of CWB, abuse against others, theft, sabotage, withdrawal and production deviance. Sheaffer (2018) describes counterproductive work behaviour (CWB) as intentional negative behaviour within the workplace and can range from stealing to sabotaging or bullying.

Research could be undertaken on any of these CWB, for the purpose of this study we will concentrate on absenteeism. Absenteeism in itself is a large topic, absences can be allowed through approval from the manager or unauthorised by the employee taking time without approval from the manager. Furthermore, withdrawal which can be characterised as being absent or late (Fox et al,2012), this is further reflected as withdrawal behaviours can be characterised as absenteeism, turnover or lateness as each represents a physical removal from work (Johns, 2001).

Absenteeism and withdrawal can further be classified as coming to work late without permission or taking a longer than normal lunch without permission or calling sick to work when not really sick.

It is understood that there are a number of reasons as to why an employee may partake in CWB, such as stress there is also supporting research around the justification of CWB from the employees side, for example, Krischer et al (2010) discusses how CWB can be used to deal with stress within the workplace, essentially how an employee may show the signs of withdrawal in order to cope with the stress of the workplace. In addition Krings and Bollmann (2011), outline that some of the consequences of CWB on other employees include development of low job satisfaction, increased turnover and rates of absenteeism while Muafi (2011) identifies a link between employee's intent to quit and CWB, which ironically in turn can creates CWB. It is evident the impact CWB can have within the working environment. Considering the impact that CWB can have in the workplace, financial cost, theft and potential turnover as result of the impact on other employees, it is quite a volatile and expensive area. In addition, CBW can be the result of a number of factors within the workplace.

Good leaders influence and inspire employees to achieve a common goal and further support and encourage employees to go above and beyond. Poor leaders can have a destructive impact on the workplace and the employees resulting in turnover.

2.4.2 CWB and Leadership Styles

Puni *et al* (2016) undertakes research on the relationship between leadership styles, CWB and turnover intention. This study showed the cohort sampled were more likely to engage in CWB if they perceived their manager as autocratic as a result of being unhappy/ unmotivated in the workplace due to the leadership style. The results from the study also suggested that this cohort were less likely to not partake in CBW if the leader is perceived as a democratic leader, the study further discussed this is likely due to the traits of this style of leader. Traits such as championing high productivity and good work attitudes. The study relates this behaviour to the democratic leader creating a positive relationship with employees, reducing CWB (Puni et al 2016). Puni et al (2016) also look at laissez-faire leadership as part of the study. The results indicated that employees with laissez-faire managers were more likely to engage in CWB. The study further related this behaviour with conflict, uncertainty or doubt within the role resulting in CBW.

Frooman et al (2012) undertakes research on passive avoidant leadership (which is classed as laissez-faire leadership), transformational leadership and absenteeism. This study looks at the relationship between these two leadership styles and absenteeism that is illegitimate and legitimate, referring to absenteeism which has been signed off by the manager and not.

Frooman et al (2012) found that illegitimate absenteeism increased when the employee perceives the leader as passive avoidant (laissez-faire) and job satisfaction decreases, which would be similar to the results from the study undertaken from Puni et al (2016). Frooman et al (2012) also identifies legitimate absenteeism decreases when the leader is portrayed as passive avoidant (laissez-faire). So the employee chooses to come in when they are ill and stay away when they are not.

Mtimkula et al (2014) undertook a study which looks at leadership style and the impact on motivation, performance and absenteeism within hospitals in South Africa. The study focuses on autocratic, democratic and laissez-faire leadership styles. The study found that motivation and performance decreased and absenteeism increased when the leader was portrayed as either autocratic and laissez-faire style, which is in line with Puni et al (2016) and Frooman et al (2012), showing a link in behaviour. In addition, the results of the study (Mtimkula et al, 2014) identifies a direct link between absenteeism and leadership style.

From the desk-based research undertaken, there appears to be a relationship or link between leadership style and CWB. Similarities have been identified across a number of studies showing consistency in the results, however none of the studies concentrated specifically on millennials as a cohort to study, which results in a gap in the research.

We also understand what the millennials are looking for within employment, inspirational and present leaders that provide feedback, feedback that the millennial can use to grow and progress. The millennial will move easily from an employer that they are not happy with in order to get what and where they want as they are motivated.

3. Research Question

The aim of the research is to look at leadership styles, particularly autocratic, democratic and laissez-faire in order to see if there is a link between said styles and counterproductive behaviour, the cohort being samples are millennials

Research question:

'Autocratic, Democratic and Laissez-Faire Leadership Styles: Is there a link between these Leadership Styles and Absenteeism/ Withdrawal Amongst Millennials?'

3.1 Sub Questions:

- 1) Does democratic, autocratic and laissez-faire leadership style affect absenteeism /withdrawal in the workplace?
- 2) Is there a leadership style that experiences absenteeism / withdrawal more regularly?
- 3) Is absenteeism experienced across the three types of leadership styles?
- 4) What is the most common frequency in how regular respondents partake in absenteeism/ withdrawal?
- 5) Within the parameters of the questions asked, is there a common form of absenteeism/ withdrawal?

Aims:

The aim of this piece of research, within the parameters of the questionnaire are:

- 1) Identify if there is a leadership style that experiences absenteeism/ withdrawal more regularly
- 2) Identify if counterproductive behaviour is experienced in all three leadership styles
- 3) Identify what is the most common form of absenteeism/ withdrawal
- 4) Identify how regular the leadership styles experience absenteeism/ withdrawal

4. Methodology

4.1 Overview

This chapter looks at the methodology of how the study was undertaken and the thought process that went into it. The aim of the research is to identify the leadership style of each of the respondent's manager and cross-reference this information against the respondent's absenteeism/ withdrawal behaviour, as per their responses. The purpose of this was to determine if a particular leadership style experienced more absenteeism/ withdrawal. The cohort being asked to participate were millennials, those born between 1981 and 1996.

The methodology chapter is divided up in a number of subheadings in order to make it easier to follow. It starts with the delivery which gives a background on the steps taken to identify the process, the pilot approach and learnings and how the sample was identified. The chapter then goes into the process of the methodology which is broken down into three steps: confirming the sample, identifying leadership styles and finally the CBW checklist and how these approaches were chosen. There are also additional questions which it was felt were important to include, data protection and ethical consideration.

The total number of responses received was 47. Although not at the level intended, it was felt this was a good response given the current Covert-19 virus pandemic situation being experienced. In addition, the link to the questionnaire and checklist was only live for a 5 day period.

4.2 The Delivery

The original methodology was to conduct semi structured informal face to face interviews, with the intent of creating conversations around experiences. The interview scenario allows for clarity of terminology and gives the option to probe if required. It was felt at that time that approach would suit. However due to the current COVERT-19 pandemic, physically meeting with people was not an option. Although video calls could be arranged, through research it was felt this method would not necessarily obtain the information needed. An alternative was required in order to progress. In addition, it was important that a previous, tried and tested approach was favoured as not only was it something already tested but it was felt it would be the best option in terms of correctly collecting the data.

4.2.1 Pilot approach

An initial pilot questionnaire with a checklist was emailed to a test subject. The purpose of this was to ensure that the information being emailed was easy to understand, instructions were clear and respondents were correctly interpreting what was required of them.

It became evident that a slightly different approach would be needed. It was decided to make the questionnaire and checklist available through an online application called Typeform. This also meant that additional questions could be easily added-in and free text boxes could be created if the respondent wanted to add anything. This change would make the process easier for the respondent to complete the form, as the platform was mobile friendly. The benefit of this would mean that no email address would be required in order to send the survey. A link could easily be sent to respondents who were within scope via text message, WhatsApp or other communication platforms. It was felt an online platform would best suit the tech savvy nature of millennials. In addition, the platform also made the data collection easier as all answers could be exported to an excel sheet.

Feedback from the pilot also highlighted the need for some questions to be restructured. The pilot approach was incredibly helpful in identifying areas of improvement.

4.2.2 Sample

The cohort of respondents required for this particular piece study were millennials. It was expected to recruit respondents through social media, small business association contacts along with contacts through alumni's. It was intended to sample 100 millennials, of any gender, from various employment sectors and employment levels ranging from small to large scale organisations. Sampling would be achieved through snowball sampling, encouraging respondents who complete the questionnaire to then send out to their circle. It was decided to use this approach, rather than going to an organisation as it was felt that individuals who volunteered to complete the questionnaire would more likely be honest in their answers. If an organisation had been approached to host the study, it was felt that the respondents may not be as honest or forthcoming with such information.

4.3 The Process

There were three steps involved in acquiring the information:

4.3.1 Step 1: Verifying the Millennial

Verifying the respondent fell within the scope of the research. As stated, for the purpose of this piece of research a millennial will be identified as a person born between 1981 and 1996 which would include individuals that are 23 to 38 in 2019.

In order to identify this information, all respondents will be required to confirm that they fell within scope. This will be confirmed by asking the respondent to agree or otherwise to a statement. This was the first question the respondents were asked. If the respondent falls out of scope, for example if they are younger or older these responses will not be included in the findings.

4.3.2 Step 2: Identifying Leadership Styles

Identifying the leadership style of the respondents manager/lead. The respondent will be provided with a general overview on the three different leadership styles in order to give some understanding and background. This information was held on the landing page of the Typeform platform hosting the material. The respondents will then be requested to complete a questionnaire in order to identify which leadership style their managers fall into.

In order to verify this the respondent will be asked to confirm that they have answered the questionnaire based on the behaviour of their manager.

Bass and Avolio (1995) (cited in Seyal 2014), developed the multifactor leadership questionnaire (MLQ) which is an extensive questionnaire that identifies leadership types. This questionnaire has 36 items related to leadership styles and 9 items associated with leadership outcomes, the MLQ is made of 9 scales that measures if the individual is a transformational, transactional or passive/avoidant leader. The style of this questionnaire is very thorough and can be given to a group or an individual, in addition, it has been re-used and validated in other studies. The MLQ questionnaire is not only comprehensive but also has been utilised in other studies such as Seyal and Rahman (2014) and Mora and Ticlau (2012).

Although the MLQ has been extensively used in various studies, there are other studies which do criticise its conceptual framework (Northouse 1997). In addition, the MLQ relates to a different set of leadership styles (transformational, transactional and passive), and so did not fit the scope of this particular study.

Despite this, it was felt that the MLQ would be easy to send, easy to complete and straightforward in terms of identifying leadership styles based on the scoring. In addition, it is a tried and tested approach.

Taking these points into consideration, it was crucial to identify a similar questionnaire which was specific to the three chosen leadership styles.

The questionnaire identified to use for this study was developed by Northouse (2011). This questionnaire is shorter than the MLQ with 18 statements. The statements, structure and delivery are very similar to the MLQ. Based on this and the fact that the statements are framed in such a way to identify if the individual is an authoritarian, democratic or laissez-faire leader, it was decided to progress with the Northouse (2011) questionnaire, in addition the questionnaire was freely available online.

The statements were slightly reworded as they were phrased in a way that it identified the leadership style of the person completing the questionnaire, whereas the aim is to identify the leadership style of the millennials manager or leader.

The statements are put to the respondent who then has the choice to consider if they; strongly agree, agree, disagree, strongly disagree or answer as neutral. The responses are scored from 1

(strongly disagree) to 5 (strongly agree). This scoring approach suited this particular piece of research as it helped to easily break the results down to identify the leadership type.

The scoring is calculated in such a way that it identifies if the person is most dominant or least dominant within that leadership style.

The questionnaire will be sent to the respondents, along with a breakdown on what an autocratic, democratic and laissez-faire leader is so that the subject can familiarise themselves with this information. The respondent will be asked to answer the questionnaire based on the behaviour of their manager. The purpose of this is to identify what type of leader each manager is or what leadership style is associated with that manager.

4.3.3 Step 3: CWB

The purpose of this step is to attempt to identify if CWB, specifically withdrawal / absenteeism is more prominent in either of the three leadership styles. It has been outlined the approach taken to identify the leadership styles, the next element is identifying CWB.

We have looked at what CWB is and the impact it can have on an organisation and team. We understand that there are different types of CBW and for the purpose of this piece of research we will concentrate on absenteeism, which includes withdrawal. As previously outlined, withdrawal can be characterised as absenteeism, lateness or turnover (Johns 2001).

Fox and Spector (2002) developed the counterproductive work behaviour checklist (CWB-C), which comes in two versions. There is a full 45-item which was created to score overall CWB or as two subscales that identifies CWB directed towards the organisation or the employees.

There is also a 32 - item version (Fox and Spector 2002), which provides 5 subscales of CWB, these can be broken down to theft, production deviance, abuse sabotage and withdrawal.

The instructions of the checklist shows what question relates to which CWB. In theory, one could remove the CBW questions that do not relate to withdrawal or absenteeism. However it was felt keeping them in would still offer an insight into CWB.

In order to identify the CWB type, respondents were presented with a statement. Once the respondent has considered the statement, they answer on a 5 point frequency scale of; never, once or twice, once or twice per month, once or twice per week or every day.

This type of scale assisted in identifying the frequency and analysing the data.

The type of scale used for the checklist is also very suitable for the study as it makes it easy to identify CWB type and analyse the findings.

This particular checklist has been used in a number of other studies (Bolton et al, 2012, Krischer et al, 2010). In addition, the CWB-C has also tested in cross-cultural settings to analyse how it translates, with positive results (Rauf and Farooq 2014).

Furthermore, the checklist was developed by Prof Spector who is an esteemed researcher in this area. For these reasons it was decided to use this tried and tested checklist for this study.

The checklist will also be sent to the respondent along with the leadership questionnaire and the breakdown of the traits of the leadership styles for completion. The respondent will be required to complete both the checklist and the questionnaire.

4.4 Additional Questions

Additional questions have been included for the respondent at the beginning of the study, these include:

Q: Can you confirm that you were born between 1981 and 1996

The purpose of this question is to ensure the respondent falls within the scope of this study and the parameters of what a millennial is as outlined and agreed for this specific study.

Q: I have identified another manager who showed signs of anther leadership style

The purpose of this question was to identify within the sample the potential of another respondent who could provide information on another leadership style. The intent here was not only to increase respondent numbers but also to cross-reference the respondent's behaviour against at least two leadership styles.

Q: I have exhibited counterproductive work behaviour in all employment settings

The purpose of this question it to identify if CWB is related to the personality and/or behaviour of the respondent

Q: I have exhibited counterproductive work behaviour as a result of my managers leadership style

The purpose of this direct question is to learn from the respondents side if they felt they're CWB was a direct result of their leader.

In addition a free text box has been included to give the respondent the opportunity to add additional information should they wish.

4.5 Data Protection

The identity of all respondents involved in this piece of research will not be captured. The cohort relates to age and nothing else and so personal information was not required and so there is nothing to be saved. Furthermore as the questionnaire and checklist was completed through an online platform no email addresses were required in order to send the link.

6.6 Ethical Consideration

All information captured is completely confidential and will be stored on a personal laptop that is password protected. The file that holds the checklist and questionnaire will be saved in a folder which is encrypted. There will be no identifiable information used when saving and storing the responses.

In addition the questionnaire and checklist used to collect the data were created and used by established researchers, there was a thought process taken when deciding this approach.

5. Analysis and Findings

5.1 Introduction

The aim of the study was to look at the three leadership styles and identify if there was a link between these and absenteeism/ withdrawal amongst millennials. In order to obtain this information, there were a number of steps which had to be undertaken. Firstly, to confirm the respondents were within scope of the study and were millennials. It has been identified for the purpose of this study a millennial is someone who was born between 1981 and 1996 and was 23 - 38 in 2019. The next step was to identify what leadership style the respondents manager/lead falls into; autocratic, democratic or laissez-faire. The leadership style was identified using the Northouse (2011) questionnaire. Next stage was for the respondents to complete the CWB-C checklist (Spector, 2006). This checklist was created to look at a number of different CBW, as this study is only looking at absenteeism/ withdrawal we only need to analyse the answers that relate to these statements. The point of this was to identify if the respondent partakes in absenteeism/ withdrawal and how regularly.

A number of studies were reviewed prior to undertaking this piece of research. There is a huge amount of information and research undertaken on the area of millennials in addition there is a breath of information around the many leadership styles and the various counterproductive behaviours. However, it was found that there was limited information which looked specifically at autocratic, democratic and laissez-faire leadership styles and if there was a link to absenteeism/ withdrawal amongst the millennial cohort.

From reviewing other studies, there were a number of themes that began to emerge, for example what millennials look for in a leader, they want an inspirational leader that is respected and who will provide feedback. Feedback with the intention to support and progress the millennial. In addition, it was found that, similar to other working generations, if the millennials are not happy in the workplace they will leave.

Furthermore, it was also found that leadership styles resulted in different behaviours from subordinates, both studies undertaken by Fiaz (2017) and Lewin et al (1939) experienced a positive reaction to laissez-faire leadership and both studies experienced negative reactions or behaviours to leaders perceived as autocratic.

However, the outcomes of both studies were different when it came to democratic leadership, with Fiaz (2017) it was found that there was a negative impact on the employee with the democratic leadership. Whereas Lewin et al (1939) found this to be a positive experience. It has been outlined the limitations these studies have in comparison to this study, primarily the cohort being used in the studies.

5.1.2 Overview

The following chapter looks at the results of the questionnaire and checklist completed by millennials. The first part of the chapter divides the leadership style of the respondent's manager/lead and outlines the percentage response of autocratic, democratic and laissez-faire.

There is then a table for each leadership style and the percentage responses for each absenteeism/ withdrawal question. A recap of the key traits of each leadership introduces these tables. These findings are compared in order to identify common themes.

As there was an uneven number of participants per leadership type, the next part of the chapter looks at a smaller sample size to further ensure that the common themes are still plausible. These findings are presented in table and graph form.

The chapter then looks at the responses of the additional questions that were asked.

The total number of completed responses was 47.

From the completed responses, it was calculated that 47% had a laissez-faire manager, 34% had a democratic manager and 19% had an autocratic manager.

Leadership Style	Response Total:
Autocratic	19%
Democratic	34%
Laissez-faire	47%

Table 1: Leadership Style Responses

The questionnaire was designed in such a way to identify if the respondents manager/ lead scored high, very high, moderate, low or very low. It was then possible to further identify which leadership style the manager/ lead predominantly showed traits of. The majority of managers exhibited signs of a particular leadership style so it was very clear what style they were. The reason for this was because no respondents scored low or very low on the leadership styles element of the questionnaire.

The below table outlines the breakdown of leadership style and the scoring across very high, high and moderate. Interestingly it appears that laissez-faire leadership is the most dominant overall leadership style based on the respondents' feedback. Laissez-faire scored the highest in the very high and high categories, a combined score of 47%, excluding the moderate score.

This is followed by democratic leadership style, which had its highest scoring of 19% in the 'very high' category and 13% in high an overall score of 34%.

Autocratic leadership style interestingly scored highest in the 'high' category at 15% and 2.1% in 'very high' category. A total of 17.1%.

Leadership Style	Very High	High	Moderate	Total
Autocratic	2.1%	15%	2.1%	19%
Democratic	19%	13%	2.1%	34%
Laissez-faire	15%	19%	11%	47%

Table 2: Leadership Style Responses Breakdown

5.2 CWB

The CWB-C checklist (Fox and Spencer, 2002) captures information regarding CWB, as this particular study concentrates on absenteeism withdrawal, this specific data could be pulled from the responses. The checklist made it easier to identify this type of CWB.

Analysis from the CWB checklist showed that only 4% respondents had not engaged in any withdrawal/ absenteeism behaviour at all. These respondents identified that their managers showed traits of democratic and laissez-faire leadership styles, so there was no consistency between the styles. All other respondents outlined that they had engaged specifically in withdrawal / absenteeism despite leadership style.

Furthermore, the frequency options for absenteeism/ withdrawal were; never, once or twice, once or twice per month, once or twice per week and every day. No respondent selected every day for any of the statements, so this option has been removed from the tables below. We understand that the respondents are partaking in withdrawal /absenteeism as often as once or twice per week, one or twice per month or as irregular as once or twice or never.

5.3 Absenteeism/ Withdrawal: Leadership Style

5.3.1 Autocratic Leadership Style

We understand from the desk based research undertaken, an autocratic leader can be strict, they give work but they do not always give all the information to the employees, which can result in issues around trust. As a result of such traits the employees do not enjoy much freedom. Likert's (1961) management system (cited in Fiaz et al 2017) describes autocratic leadership as poor communication and no regard for teamwork. Fiaz (2017) outlined how this type of leader encourages incentives, which is in line with the below quote that was taken directly from the survey and the manager was identified as an autocratic leader.

" I have had many issues where I have been taken advantage of in the workplace under the premise of reward based systems which never were followed through on.

Taking into consideration the study undertaken by Signh et al (2012) if we consider some of the main themes identified from researching millennials in the workplace, feedback, inspirational leaders and being part of the team were determined. These favoured traits seem to not be aligned to the behaviour of an autocratic leader.

The below table is based on the response rate of 19%:

Statement	Never	Once or Twice	Once or Twice per Month	Once or Twice per week
Came to work late without permission	55%	11%	22%	11%
Stayed home from work and said you were sick when you weren't	22%	78%	0%	0%
Taken a longer break than you were allowed to take	0%	88%	11%	0%
Left work earlier than you were allowed to	11%	78%	11%	0%

Table 3: Autocratic Leadership style: question breakdown

Respondents who identified their manager/ lead as autocratic seem to favour taking a longer break then allowed once or twice, not necessarily consistently. In addition these respondents chose once or twice most regularly with staying at home when not actually sick and leaving work early. Interestingly, the frequency of once or twice seems to be the most common scoring preference for all statements. Leading one to believe that this specific group partake in absenteeism/ withdrawal but not necessarily very often, such as once a month.

The next highest response rate was that respondents outlined that they 'never' come to work late without permission. Furthermore, these specific respondents identified the frequency of 'once or twice per week' as very low across all statements and also scored 'never' regularly across all statements.

This group appears to undertake absenteeism / withdrawal the odd time, for example once or twice but actually they do appear to partake somewhat more regularly as they do score once or twice a month regularly.

We understand that the autocratic leader is strict and does not always give the employee all the information, being somewhat aloof leading one to consider the trust between the leader

and employee. Puni *et al* (2016) further adds that the autocratic leader relies on authority and control and manipulation in order to complete the task or job at hand.

The outcome is in line with the study undertaken by Puni et al (2016), who identified that employees were more likely to engage in CBW if they perceived their manager as autocratic which is also in line with the study undertaken by Mtimkula et al (2014) who found that employees were more likely to partake in absenteeism/ withdrawal if the leader is autocratic.

Regularity of once or twice per week is not selected that often, which is not surprising considering this type of leader is strict. However one or twice per month although selected more the numbers are low and a longer lunch break is the most common CWB for the autocratic leader.

5.3.2 Laissez-Faire Leadership Style

As previously outlined, the laissez-faire leader gives freedom to the employee allowing them to make decisions themselves. This leader does not really participate and would not comment on employees activities unless asked – very much a hands off approach (Lewin et al 1939). The laissez-faire leader only enforces goals when required and development amongst employees is not of concern of the laissez-faire leader (Friaz, 2017). Diebig and Bormann (2020) further discusses how the laissez-faire leader is not present and so is not available to offer advice or guidance when the employee needs this, resulting in stress.

There would be elements of this leadership style the millennial would appreciate such as the freedom to make decisions however there is a fundamental lack of leadership. A hands off approach may not provide the inspirational leadership style the millennial is looking for.

The below table is based on the response rate of 47%:

Statement	Never	Once or Twice	Once or Twice per Month	Once or Twice per week
Came to work late without permission	59%	23%	18%	0%
Stayed home from work and said you were sick when you weren't	55%	50%	0%	0%
Taken a longer break than you were allowed to take	14%	59%	23%	4.5%
Left work earlier than you were allowed to	45%	45%	9%	9%

Table 4: Laissez-Faire Leadership style: Question Breakdown

Taking a longer than normal break appears to be the most common answer. The frequency of 'once or twice' is also the most common score statement. Never coming to work late without permission also scoring very high.

Staying home from work when you're not sick scored the next highest with a high regular frequency. This was followed by leaving work earlier than allowed to again scoring high in terms of frequency.

Interestingly this group appears to partake in absenteeism / withdrawal more regularly - scoring once or twice per week and once or twice per month more regularly.

Considering there the laissez-faire leader does give freedom to the employee these are interesting outcomes, particularly as these are unauthorised. If we consider Lewin et al (1939) who outlined that this leader is very hands off and only comments on employee's actions when asked, one could assume the employee may be more relaxed on the rules. In addition, Diebig and Bormann (2020) discusses the laissez-faire leader not being present to offer advice needed resulting in stress, one wonders if there is an element of retaliation from the employee through the act of absenteeism/ withdrawal.

In addition, this outcome is in line with the study undertaken by Punit et al (2016), the results indicated that employees were more likely to engage in CBW if they perceived their manager as laissez-faire. To further support this, Frooman et al (2012), identified that absenteeism increased amongst employees whose leader was laissez-faire this outcome is further reflected in the study undertaken by Mtimkula et al (2014) who identified a link between absenteeism and a laissez-faire leader.

5.3.3 Democratic Leadership Style

Based on the theory, the democratic leader meets the needs of the millennial most closely, as this leader is focused on the group, offers advice and encourages group discussion. Bhatti et al (2012) adds that there is more interaction within the group as there is more focus on people and the democratic leader is more part of the group themselves. The group, we have learned is important to the millennial as previously cited, Carter and Walker (2018), outline that the millennial employee wants, not only to be part of, but also to be essential to the team. In addition, the employee has the benefit of freedom but is informed, which instils trust which is in line with Lewin et al (1939), who outline that there is trust between the leader and the employee.

This behaviour is in line with the below quote which was taken directly from the questionnaire. This respondent's manager was identified as being a democratic leader:

"The core ethics and attributes of the company I work for endorsed traits such as mentorship and the success of each individual was determined by those around them"

The below table is based on the response rate of 34%:

Statement	Never	Once or Twice	Once or Twice per Month	Once or Twice per week
Came to work late without permission	31%	44%	12.5%	12.5%
Stayed home from work and said you were sick when you weren't	81%	19%	0%	0%
Taken a longer break than you were allowed to take	12.5%	62%	19%	12.5%
Left work earlier than you were allowed to	44%	38%	19%	0%

Table 5: Democratic Leadership style: Question Breakdown

Interestingly, Never staying at home from work when you are not really sick is the overall highest score. However taking a longer than normal break with the frequency of once or twice is the highest score of withdrawal / absenteeism. Followed by coming to work late or without permission one or twice and leaving work earlier than allowed.

The frequency for this cohort scores highest for once or twice, however there appears to be a higher number opting for one or twice per month and also weekly, in comparison to the other two leadership styles.

The regularity of the frequency is very interesting considering this leader is all about the group. As previously discussed Lewin et al (1939) outlined that this leader gives freedom to the employee which creates trust and a good relationship, also if we consider the study undertaken by Fiaz (2017) who identified a positive link between this leader and the employee.

This outcome is interesting as according to the study undertaken by Puni et al (2016), the results indicated that those sampled were less likely to partake in CWB if they perceived their leader as democratic.

5.4 Additional Questions

Additional questions were included on the online platform for the respondents to complete, these questions were separate to the questionnaire and checklist. The aim of the 4 additional questions was to gain a deeper understanding of the information being provided.

Q 1: Can you confirm that you were born between 1981 and 1996?

Purpose: to confirm respondents are within the scope of the study

Outcome: all respondents confirmed that they fell within scope of the study

Q 2: I have identified another manager who showed signs of anther leadership style

Purpose: The purpose of this question was to identify within the sample if a respondent could complete the questionnaire and checklist again with the other leader in mind in order to increase respondent's numbers and also to cross reference the respondents behaviour against the two leadership styles.

Outcome: 60% of the respondents agreed that they had identified another manager who showed signs of another leadership style.

Q 3:I have exhibited counterproductive work behaviour in all employment settings

Purpose: Is to identify if CWB is related to the personality and/or behaviour of the respondent

Outcome: From this statement, 21% of all respondents, irrespective of leadership style, confirmed that they had exhibited CWB in all employment settings.

However the majority (79%) disagreed with this statement.

Q 4: I have exhibited counterproductive work behaviour as a result of my managers leadership style

Purpose: The purpose of this direct question is to learn from the respondents side if they felt that they partook in CWB was a direct result of their leader.

Outcome: From this statement, 36% of the respondents, irrespective of leadership style agreed with this statement however 49% disagreed with the statement.



 Table 6: Breakdown: Additional Question 4: Agree: Disagree

Due to the uneven number of respondents based on leadership style. It was decided to take a smaller sample size of 9 respondents per leadership style to further look at this specific question.

The below chart is based on a random sample size of 9 who agreed with this statement:



Table 7: Breakdown: Additional Question 4: Agree: Smaller Sample Size
The below chart is based on a random sample size of 9 who disagreed with this statement:





5.5 Sub Questions:

The below address the sub questions outlined in the research question chapter.

Sub Q: Does democratic, autocratic and laissez-faire leadership style affect absenteeism /withdrawal in the workplace?

The results from the study show that all three leadership styles experience absenteeism/ withdrawal. Taking into consideration the additional question included in the form, which asked if the respondents exhibited CWB as a result of their managers leadership style, 36% of the total respondents agreed to this statement. From this, 29% perceived their leader as democratic, 65% perceived their leader as laissez-faire and 6% perceived their leader as autocratic.

The majority disagreed with this statement, with 44% democratic, 35% laissez-faire and 22% autocratic.

Sub Q: Is there a leadership style that experiences absenteeism / withdrawal more regularly?

Based on the information provided by the respondents, the results from the analysis indicated that the democratic leader experiences the most regular absenteeism/ withdrawal with once or twice a week. Interestingly, the democratic and laissez-faire leader scored equal in terms of frequency being one or twice a month, there is a commonality between both styles here.

Sub Q: Is absenteeism/ withdrawal experienced across the three types of leadership styles?

Based on the respondent's answers, it is clear that absenteeism/ withdrawal of some form is evident regardless of leadership style. The results indicate that this behaviour is experienced across the three leadership styles, with respondents confirming they partake in absenteeism / withdrawal. There was an exception of 4% of the participants who did not partake in absenteeism / withdrawal, interestingly there was no consistency in the leadership style of these participants managers.

Sub Q: What is the most common frequency in how regular respondents partake in absenteeism/ withdrawal?

Based on the results from the questionnaire and checklist, there was a clear consistency in relation to the most common frequency being once or twice. The below chart highlights laissez-faire as the most common leadership style that experiences absenteeism/withdrawal once or twice.

However, this table is representative of all respondents, as laissez-faire had the highest number of respondents in the study, it is not surprising this style scored the highest.



Table 9: Absenteeism/ Withdrawal V's Leadership Style: All Respondents

Smaller Sample Size - Test

As previously outlined, there was an uneven number of respondents per leadership style. In order to further analyse this question it was decided to review the results based on a smaller set size of 9 in order to see if the outcome is the same. Undertaking analysis of a smaller set resulted in a different outcome. The smaller set size of using 9 respondents per leadership style resulted in the autocratic leader experiencing once or twice most frequently.



Table 10: Absenteeism/ Withdrawal V's Leadership Style: Smaller Sample Size

The smaller sample size is a more representative outcome as it is based on an even number of leadership styles. This outcome is also in line with findings of the other studies such as Mtimkula et al (2014), Puni et al (2016), Frooman et al (2012) and Fiaz (2017).

Sub Q: Within the parameters of the questions asked, is there a common form of absenteeism/ withdrawal?

Based on the information provided by the respondents, taking a break longer than allowed is the most common form of absenteeism/ withdrawal.

The below diagram outlines the responses of each of the four absenteeism/ withdrawal questions against each of the leadership styles. Identifying question 3 (taking longer breaks) as the most similarly answered statement across the three leadership styles.



Table 11: Common Form of Absenteeism/ withdrawal

Figure 1: CWB Questions and leadership Style

Smaller Sample Size - Test

As there was not an even number of respondents per leadership style, it was decided to review the results based on a smaller set size of 9. The point of which was to further analyse the outcome and to ensure the results were the same from the larger sample and smaller sample.

The sample size of 9 was chosen as this figure represents the total number of respondents whose managers displayed traits of autocratic style.



 Table 12: Common Form of Absenteeism/ withdrawal: Smaller Sample Size

The above chart, with a smaller sample size of 9 still identifies the third statement of taking longer breaks as the most common form of CWB amongst the leadership styles. In addition, the frequency of one or twice is still the dominant outcome.

5.6 Similarities from Results

There appears to be similarities between the laissez-faire, autocratic and democratic leadership style. These being the frequency of once or twice when taking a longer break. Interestingly, the democratic leader seemed to stand out in terms of frequency, respondents were more likely to regularly partake in absenteeism/ withdrawal with this type of leader.

In addition there are similarities between the results irrespective of leadership style:

- Absenteeism/withdrawal is evident regardless of leadership style
- Once or twice is the most common frequency regardless of leadership style
- Taking a break longer then allowed to is the most common form of absenteeism/ withdrawal
- Leaving work early without permission is common

5.7 Outcomes

When comparing all three leadership styles and percentage responses against frequency, there were interesting outcomes:

- Democratic leadership scored the highest in terms of frequency (once or twice a week) for absenteeism / withdrawal
- Democratic and Laissez-faire scored equal in terms of once or twice a month for absenteeism/ withdrawal
- Autocratic leadership scored highest in terms of once or twice (not that often) for absenteeism/ withdrawal
- Laissez-faire leadership experienced the highest amount of absenteeism/ withdrawal

Although not in scope of this study, micro managing was also identified as a theme from the respondents. This management approach was irrespective of leadership style.

Below are some direct quotes taken from the free text box from the questionnaire:

"Micromanaging creates a very bad atmosphere and moral amongst staff" (laissez-faire leadership style)

"Current manager micromanages which makes performing tasks very difficult at times and slows down procedures, is a lovely person but management style varies each week" (laissez-faire leadership style)

"Current manager micromanages which makes performing tasks very difficult at times and slows down procedures, is a lovely person but management style varies each week" (laissez-faire leadership style)

5.8 Limitations

From analysing the findings, it was clear that there were a number of limitations associated with the study.

The intention was to secure a sample size of 100 participants, unfortunately this was not achieved. The sample size that was secured was 47 respondents all of whom were in scope for this piece of research. The link to the questionnaire was live for 4 days. It was felt that if it had been available longer that the original sample size of 100 applications would have been achieved. The smaller sample made it more difficult to give a clear and representative outcome. A larger sample size would have provided a more robust and thorough outcome.

Furthermore, there was not an even number of respondents per leadership style and so a smaller set size was used making the sample size even smaller and so not giving a clear indication of the results. On reflection it would be beneficial to have secured a sample with an even number of respondents to represent each leadership style. This would have shown a clearer representation.

The study did not take into consideration personality type or any external factors which may cause an employee to act out in the workplace such as stress. Other studies have looked at absenteeism/ withdrawal alongside other variables. Such variables would take into consideration other limitations, which would influence an outcome. Again showing a clearer representation of the cohort. In addition, the type of working environment has not been taken into consideration, at the time of this study the world was in midst of a pandemic with many people working from home. This may have affected the results, some feedback from the study outlined managers micromanaging; this could be a result of the current situation, as these details were not captured. It would be interesting to undertake a research on virtual leadership particularly at this time. In addition, participants' bias towards their managers/ lead was not taken into consideration and this could have affected the outcomes.

Interestingly, feedback from one respondent was that some of the statements in the questionnaire were dated. This may have affected the results if the respondents could not relate to statements. On further considering this point, the respondents bias if any to their manager was not taken into consideration.

6. Discussion

The aim of the study was to look at autocratic, democratic and laissez-faire leadership styles to identify if there is a link between these styles and absenteeism/ withdrawal amongst millennials. The leadership style of the respondent's manager/ lead needed to be identified using the leadership questionnaire. This information was then used against the CWB checklist, concentrating on absenteeism/ withdrawal. The aim of this was to identify if a leadership style experienced a higher level of absenteeism /withdrawal. Research undertaken for this study identified key attributes or traits associated with each leadership style.

The findings have shown that absenteeism/ withdrawal are present amongst millennials regardless of the leadership style of the manager, showing there is a link between styles and this form of CWB. To further support this, 36% of respondents directly agreed that they partake in CBW due to the leadership style of their manager. This outcome would be in line with other studies that identified negative behaviour towards different leadership styles (Puni et al, 2016, Frooman et al 2012, Mtimkula et al 2014). The difference between the studies referenced and this study is the cohort used. However, although the studies referenced all used a different type of cohort there is still a consistent theme that the millennial is the same. This notion is in line with the paper undertaken by Wood (2019), which outlined the needs of the millennial are the same as those of other generations.

In addition to this, feedback, part of the group and an inspirational leader were also themes identified as a need from the perspective of the millennial. A point that was echoed in a number of papers (IBM 2015, Zaheree et al 2018 and Singnh et al 2012). These attributes would be in line with the democratic leadership style. However, the results from this study indicated that the democratic leader experienced the highest levels of frequency being once or twice a week and also scored the same as laissez-faire in terms of frequency of once or twice a month.

Interestingly, this leads to the leadership style that experiences the most absenteeism/ withdrawal which was the laissez-faire leader. The characteristics of this leader allows for freedom and is not always present (Lewin et al, 1939, Diebig and Bormann 2020). In terms of the wants of the millennial some elements of this style may suit but they also want dependability and feedback (IBM, 2015). Features that a non-present manager can fulfil and so the results were somewhat not surprising.

An interesting theme that did emerge was that taking a longer lunch break than allowed was the most popular form of absenteeism/ withdrawal across all three leadership styles.

6.1 Future Research

- As both the checklist and the questionnaire used was developed pre millennial time, feedback from some of the respondents indicated that the wording and statements used in the questionnaire was somewhat dated. Taking this into consideration it would be worth reviewing the questionnaire to bring it up to date.
- 2) It would be interesting to look more in-depth at the respondents who had identified another manager with a different leadership style. In order to undertake a comparative study to see if the respondents behaviour varied between the two leadership styles.
- 3) Some feedback from the free text box indicated that some managers were micromanaging. It is unknown if this is due to the current situation (COVID-19) or if the manager usually manages like this, as this specific information was not captured. It would be interesting to undertake research on virtual leadership particularly during this time.
- 4) Micromanaging, although not in scope, was identified as a theme within the free box section of the questionnaire. Interestingly, 3 separate respondents made reference to micromanaging. Upon analysing, it was found that the three had a laissez-faire manager who is usually hands off unless. It would be interesting to look further into this.

6.2 Recommendations and Implications

The results suggest that absenteeism/ withdrawal are apparent regardless of leadership style amongst millennials, with the level of frequency being the most obvious difference. This behaviour is costing the organisation and the economy money and could be reduced. Trust is something that has come up a number of times and something that could be worked on.

Recommendation 1

It is recommended that the team including the manager undertake a team building challenge in order to work on trust and get the team away from the usual work environment. It is not recommended to do a night out that includes alcohol. The suggestion would be an activity where the team works together to solve something or overcome a challenge. There are virtual team building options available (COVID-19) but also experiences that the team physically go somewhere for a couple of hours. The cost of which depends on the numbers but for 6 people approximately €400 depending on the activity.

It is then recommended that this is followed by a brainstorming activity around what the team wants to achieve over the next 6 months and how to get there, setting out a plan and identifying how to move forward and what could be holding them back. The aim of this is to build on the trust and work together. It is suggested that this is undertaken off site so would involve the cost of renting a business suite in a hotel.

Recommendation 2

Depending on the size of the organisation, it is recommended that managers complete the leadership checklist as this is freely available online with no cost associated. The idea would be if the managers understand their leadership style they will be more aware of their strengths and weaknesses as a manager. This would make the manager more aware of the skills that they need to develop or lack at.

In addition and depending on the size of the organisation personality tests can also be provided to staff. These are freely available online and can be downloaded, handed out and completed. The benefit of these is that not only do they identify personality type but also how other personalities work making employees aware of others and equipping employees with knowledge about themselves but also others.

If there is a Learning and Development department, there may be scope for budget to undertake additional training, such as communication skills at least or leadership training.

Implications

There is no cost associated with this recommendation and is an exercise that can be very quickly organised and completed. However, it could result in managers requesting additional training which could result in a cost

Recommendation 3

Training is recommended as another option and an option which would probably be most beneficial as further training and education is always a good thing. There are a number of courses that could be recommended such as communication skills, this could be pitched for managers but also for employees. Generally these types of courses would include topics such as difficult conversations which would give managers the tools to deal with such conversations and from the other side enable the other employees to communicate clearly any issue

Management training would be beneficial to any organisation that is supporting employee growth. Depending on the size of the organisation and the number of people that require training. This is something that can be organised internally, a professional coming in to train a group of staff members or externally where the employees are sent out to a training course. Both options offer different experiences.

Implications

IBEC provides many different types of training at approximately €800 for a foundation course or €1800 for a 4 day course for leaders on the rise. There are other courses available that are QQI recognised that would be approximately €500 for a 4 day cost. Furthermore there are the option of online virtual courses, which can be undertaken through LinkedIn learning or the Open University for approx €400.

The organisation may agree to pay a certain percentage of the course to assist the staff member which shows, with the stipulation that the staff member stays for at least 2 years or else pays back the organisation. Assisting with the cost of a course shows investment and commitment to the employee.

Recommendation 4

Review and update the employee handbook, concentrating on the absenteeism/ withdrawal behaviour. Depending on the level of CWB that the organisation is experiencing, the policy may need to change to incorporate a penalty such as a warning if an employee continues such behaviour more than a certain number of times.

Implications

There is no cost associated with reviewing a policy, unless the handbook needs to be printed, however most likely it is emailed to the workforce.

The employee may become annoyed at this change and so it would need to be communicated clearly the reasoning why this step is being undertaken.

7. Conclusion

The aim of this study was to look at autocratic, democratic and laissez-faire leadership styles and identify if there was a link between these leadership styles and absenteeism/ withdrawal amongst millennials. This piece of research was undertaken, as although there are a number of studies that have looked at leadership styles and counterproductive work behaviour, there appeared to be limited research undertaken specifically on these three leadership styles, absenteeism/ withdrawal and using millennials as the sample cohort.

The results of the study identified that there is a link between leadership styles and counterproductive work behaviour such as absenteeism/ withdrawal. These findings are in line with other studies researched (Puni et al 2016 and Frooman et al 2012). However, other studies were based on different cohorts of people.

It was also found that absenteeism/ withdrawal was evident regardless if the respondent's manager was a democratic, autocratic or laissez-faire leader. The findings were restricted due to the framework of the questions that were related specifically to absenteeism/ withdrawal. Based on these restrictions, there were some interesting findings and themes, for example taking a longer lunch break than allowed was the most popular form of absenteeism/ withdrawal, withdrawal, scoring the highest across all leadership styles.

The frequency was also another interesting finding, with respondents outlining that they partake in absenteeism/ withdrawal once or twice. However the democratic leader scored the highest as this leader experienced absenteeism/withdrawal most regularly of once or twice a week. This outcome was very interesting, as the traits of this leader were in line with the wants of the millennial and so this outcome was surprising. Furthermore, although the autocratic leader was the strictest, the results of the study identified that this leader experienced absenteeism/ withdrawal the least, which may be as a result of being rigid.

Interestingly there seemed to be a close relationship between the democratic and laissez-faire leader in terms of experiencing absenteeism/ withdrawal monthly.

It is clear that there are a number of limitations associated with this piece of research however it is also a study that could be undertaken on a large scale in order to identify clearer themes, relationships and outcomes particularly as there does appear to be limited research undertaken that attributes specifically to these three leadership styles, absenteeism/ withdrawal amongst the millennial cohort.

In addition what is clear is that employees partake very regularly in absenteeism/ withdrawal regardless of the leadership style, some leadership styles experience more than others. Furthermore considering the cost of absenteeism/ withdrawal and CWB as whole to the organisation and the economy it is worth additional research and investment.

8. Reflection

I found the process of writing a dissertation intimidating and difficult to start. I have always been very interested in leadership styles and behaviour between people in groups so I knew that I wanted to undertake something in that area. I did find it difficult to identify a specific area within leadership as this is an extensive topic with so many views and opinions.

From a personal point, I have worked with managers that have not been good and managers that have been amazing, both having an impact on me, how I work and the atmosphere in the office.

One of the biggest personal challenges for me was changing my methodology to incorporate the checklist and statement. I had originally wanted to do face to face interviews however due to COVID-19 and from research I realised that was not the correct way to obtain the information I needed and so I had to relook at my approach and make the decision to change. I felt comfortable with the decision once I changed and I think it was for the best.

In terms of undertaking the dissertation more effectively, I would have begun the data collection element sooner as I could have left the online platform live for longer which could have generated a larger pool of respondents. I also would have tried to manage the respondents tighter in order to get a more even number per leadership style. In addition the longer time frame would have allowed for a cross reference analysis of those respondents who had identified another manager with another leadership style. It would then have been possible to see if the respondent partaking in CBW due to the leader or not.

I am very pleased that I completed the dissertation and something I feel very proud I have achieved.

9. References

Bass, B,M., (1990) 'From transactional to transformational leadership: Learning to share the vision', *Organizational Dynamics* vol 18 (3) pp 19- 31 Available at: <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/0090-2616(90)90061-S</u> Accessed: 19th April, 2020

Bass, B, M., (1990), Bass and Stogdill's handbook of leadership: Theory, research and managerial applications (Vol. 3). New York: Free Press.

Bass, B, M., (1981), Stodgill's handbook of leadership: a survey of theory and research. New York, NY: Free Press.

Bhatti, N., Maitlo, G, M,. Shaikh, N,. Hashmi, A,M., and Shaikh, M F,. (2012), 'The Impact of Autocratic and Democratic Leadership Style on Job Satisfaction', *International Business Research* Vol 5 (2) pp 192 - 201

Available:

https://www.researchgate.net/profile/Muhammad Hashmi2/publication/271322023 The Impact of A utocratic and Democratic Leadership Style on Job Satisfaction/links/56c827cb08ae5488f0d3e4f4/Th e-Impact-of-Autocratic-and-Democratic-Leadership-Style-on-Job-Satisfaction.pdf Accessed: 4th April 2020

Bolden, R., Gosling, J., Marturano, A. & Dennison, P. (2003), 'A Review of Leadership Theory and Competency Frameworks'. Edited version of a report for Chase Consulting and the Management Standards Centre; University of Exeter, Centre for Leadership Studies. Available at:

https://ore.exeter.ac.uk/repository/bitstream/handle/10036/17494/mgmt_standards.pdf?sequence=1 &isAllowed=y

Accessed: 7th March 2020

Bolton, L. R., Harvey D H., Grawitch, M J., and Barber L K., (2012) 'Counterproductive Work Behaviours in Response to Emotional Exhaustion: A Moderated Mediational Approach', *Stress & Health: Journal of the International Society for the Investigation of Stress*, 28(3), pp. 222–233 doi: 10.1002/smi.1425.

Carter, T. D. and Walker, W. D., III (2018) 'Retaining, Cultivating, and Investing: Strategies for Leading Millennial Managers', *The Journal of Government Financial Management*, pp. 20-25 Available at:

http://search.ebscohost.com/login.aspx?direct=true&AuthType=ip,cookie,shib&db=edsgao&AN=edsgcl. 547336983&site=eds-live&scope=site

Accessed: 25 February 2020

Central Statistics Office (2017) *Census 2016 Summary Results - Part 1* Available at: <u>https://www.cso.ie/en/media/csoie/newsevents/documents/census2016summaryresultspart1/Census2</u> <u>016SummaryPart1.pdf</u> Accessed: 10th January, 2020

Central Statistics Office (2011), Population change and historical perspective. Available at: <u>https://www.cso.ie/en/media/csoie/releasespublications/documents/population/2017/Chapter 1 Population change and historical perspective.pdf</u> <u>Accessed: 10th January 2020</u>

Central Statistics Office (2020), *Labour Force Survey (LFS)*. Available at: <u>https://www.cso.ie/en/releasesandpublications/er/lfs/labourforcesurveylfsquarter42019/</u> Accessed: 10th January 2020

Chang, K. and Smithikrai, C. (2010), 'Counterproductive behavior at work: an investigation into reduction strategies', *The International Journal of Human Resource Management*. Vol 21 (8), pp 1272 – 1288 Available at:

https://www.researchgate.net/publication/233176774_Counterproductive_behaviour_at_work_An_inv estigation_into_reduction_strategies

Accessed at: 21st November, 2019

Coffin, B. (2003), 'Breaking the silence on white collar crime', *Risk Management*, 50 (9), pp 8 *Available at:*

https://go.gale.com/ps/anonymous?id=GALE%7CA107762284&sid=googleScholar&v=2.1&it=r&linkacce ss=abs&issn=00355593&p=AONE&sw=w

Accessed: 23 November, 2019

Cowen, A. (2018), '8 Leadership Styles: Which One are you?, *About Leaders* Available at: <u>https://aboutleaders.com/8-leadership-styles-one/#gs.jq7gzw</u> Accessed: 30th November, 2019

Currier, K., (2018), 'Managing Absenteeism In a Multi-Generation Workforce', *Talent Management HR,* January 16th

Available at: <u>https://www.tlnt.com/managing-absenteeism-in-a-multi-generation-workforce/</u> Accessed: 2nd April 2020 Daly, J. (2018), 'Absenteeism costs bring out employers' caring side', *Irish Examiner*. Monday, April 30th Available at: <u>https://www.irishexaminer.com/breakingnews/business/absenteeism-costs-bring-out-</u> <u>employers-caring-side-839967.html</u> Accessed: 23 November, 2019

Deloitte (2014), The Deloitte Millennial Survey – Big Demands and High Expectations - Executive Survey . Available at:<u>https://www2.deloitte.com/content/dam/Deloitte/global/Documents/About-Deloitte/gx-dttl-2014-millennial-survey-report.pdf</u> Accessed: 8th January, 2020

Diebig, M., & Bormann, K. C., (2020). The dynamic relationship between laissez-faire leadership and daylevel stress: A role theory perspective. *German Journal of Human Resource Management* DOI:. <u>https://doi.org/10.1177/2397002219900177</u>

Dionne, S, D., Yammario, F, J., Atwater, L, E., and James, L, R. (2002), 'Neutralizing Substitutes for Leadership Theory: Leadership Effects and Common- Source Bias', *Journal of Applied Psychology*. Vol 87 (3) pp 454-464

Available at: <u>http://eds.a.ebscohost.com/eds/pdfviewer/pdfviewer?vid=6&sid=54a2c192-309b-4f84-84fc-d186707cec83%40sessionmgr4008</u>

Accessed: 1st December, 2019

Fiaz, M., Su, Q., Ikram, A., and Saaqib, A., (2017) 'Leadership Styles and Employees' Motivation: Perspective from an Emerging Economy', *Journal of Developing Areas*, 51(4), pp. 143–156. doi: 10.1353/jda.2017.0093

Fiedler, F. E. (1991) 'A Theory of Leadership Effectiveness (Book)', *Journal of Management*, 17(2), p. 501. Available at:

http://search.ebscohost.com/login.aspx?direct=true&AuthType=ip,cookie,shib&db=edb&AN=5978875& site=eds-live&scope=site

Accessed: 21 April 2020

Fox, S., Spector, P.E., Goh, A., Bruursema, K. and Kessler, S R., (2012), 'The deviant citizen: Measuring potential positive relations between counterproductive work behaviour and organizational citizenship', *Journal of Occupational and Organizational Psychology*. vol 85 pp 199 – 220 Available at: <u>https://onlinelibrary.wiley.com/doi/pdf/10.1111/j.2044-8325.2011.02032.x</u> Accessed: 30th November 2019

Fry, R., (2018) 'Millennials are the largest generation in the U.S. labor force' Available at: <u>https://www.pewresearch.org/fact-tank/2018/04/11/millennials-largest-generation-us-labor-force/</u> Accessed: 25 February 2020

Accessed: 25 February 2020

Fox, S., Spector, P.E., and Miles, D,. (2001), 'Counterproductive Work Behaviour (CWB) in Response to Job Stressors and Organizational Justice: Some Mediator and Moderator Tests for Autonomy and Emotion', *Journal of Vocational Behaviour*. 59 Pp 291 -309

Available at: <u>https://pdfs.semanticscholar.org/4d67/abf1c6213f7dd671361ca55c74fbef445b72.pdf</u> Accessed: 23rd November, 2019

Frooman, J. Mendelson, M B, and Murphy, J,K., (2012), 'Transformational and passive avoidant leadership as determinants of absenteeism' *Leadership and Organisation Development Journal*, Vol 33 No 5 pp. 447-463

Doi: https://doi.org/10.1108/01437731211241247

George, J, F. (1995), 'Leader Positive Mood and Group Performance: The Case of Customer Service', *Journal of Psychology*. Vol 26 (9), Pp 778 – 794 Available at: <u>https://onlinelibrary.wiley.com/doi/abs/10.1111/j.1559-1816.1995.tb01775.x</u> Accessed: 1st December, 2019

IBM (2015) 'Myths, exaggerations and uncomfortable truths, the real story behind millennials in the workplace' *IBM Institute for Business Value* Available at: <u>https://www.ibm.com/downloads/cas/Q3ZVGRLP</u> Accessed: 13th January 2020

Johns, G. (2001). The psychology of lateness, absenteeism, and turnover. In N. Anderson, D. Ones, H. Sinangil, & C. Viswesvaran

(Eds.), Handbook of industrial, work, and organizational psychology (Vol. 2, pp. 233–252). London: Sage.

Kadakia, C., 2017, *The Millennial Myth : Transforming Misunderstanding Into Workplace Breakthroughs*, vol First edition, A BK Business Book, Berrett-Koehler Publishers, Oakland, CA, Available at:

http://search.ebscohost.com/login.aspx?direct=true&AuthType=ip,cookie,shib&db=e020mww&AN=145 7719&site=eds-live&scope=site

Accessed: February 24 2020

Kantar Futures on behalf of American Express (2017), 'Redefining the C-Suite: Business the Millennial Way'

Available at:

https://www.americanexpress.com/content/dam/amex/uk/staticassets/pdf/AmexBusinesstheMillennial Way.pdf

Accessed: 23rd January, 2020

Krings, F. and Bollmann, G. (2011). 'Managing counterproductive work behaviours'. In G. Palazzo & M Wentland (Eds.), *Responsible Management Practices for the 21st Century* (pp. 151–159). Available at: <u>https://www.researchgate.net/publication/266796582_Managing_counterproductive_work_behaviors</u> Accessed: 20th October 2019

Krischer, M, M., Penney L, M., and Hunter, E, M., (2010), 'Can Counterproductive Work Behaviours Be Productive? Emotion-Focused Coping', *Journal of Occupational Health Psychology*, Vol 15 (2), pp 154-166

Available at:

https://www.researchgate.net/profile/Lisa_Penney/publication/43019978_Can_Counterproductive_Wo rk_Behaviors_Be_Productive_CWB_as_Emotion-Focused_Coping/links/0912f4fa98cd5b9cb0000000.pdf Accessed: 1st December, 2019

Lewin, K., Lippitt, R., and White, R., (1939), 'Patterns of Aggressive Behaviour in Experimentally Created "Social Climates"', *Journal of Social Psychology* vol 10(2) pp 271 - 299 Available at:

https://www.tandfonline.com/doi/abs/10.1080/00224545.1939.9713366?journalCode=vsoc20 Accessed: 2nd February, 2020

Mercer, D. (2012), 'Staff lateness' costs the economy £9 billion every year', *Independent*, 30 September. Available at: <u>https://www.independent.co.uk/news/business/news/staff-lateness-costs-the-economy-9-billion-every-year-8191289.html</u>

Accessed: 20th March 2020

McCumiseky, C. (2018), 'Counting the cost of stress at work', *Independent*. Nov 24th Available at: <u>https://www.independent.ie/regionals/newrossstandard/lifestyle/counting-the-cost-of-stress-at-work-37544340.html</u> Accessed: 7th December, 2019

Mora, C, Ticlau, T., (2012), 'Transformational leadership in the public sector. A pilot study using MLQ to evaluate leadership style in Cluj county local authorities'. *Review of research and social intervention*, vol 36 pp 74-98

Available at:

https://media.proquest.com/media/pq/classic/doc/3632336811/fmt/pi/rep/NONE?_s=B22g7raQLV%2B nWk%2FjEaV0rxgr0oo%3D

Accessed: 18th April 2020

Mtimkula, D,S., Naranjee, N., and Karodia M,A,. (2014), 'An Evaluation of the Leadership Styles of Managers and Their Impact on Human Capital Factors of Motivation, Performance and Absenteeism of Employees at Selected Hospitals in Eastern Free State, South Africa', *Arabian Journal of Business and Management Review*, vol 2 no10 pp 10 - 40

Available at: https://www.arabianjbmr.com/pdfs/NG_VOL_2_10/2.pdf

Accessed: 18th April 2020

Muafi (2011), 'Causes and Consequence Deviant Workplace Behaviour', International Journal of Innovation, Management and Technology, 2 (2) pp.123 – 126 Available at: https://pdfs.semanticscholar.org/6a3e/1b52ba13928e1a10c57cc78d6c11240966c0.pdf? ga=2.1921354 02.1965030869.1571644056-1698142699.1571644056 Accessed: 8th October, 2019

Myers, K., & Sadaghiani, K. (2010). Millennials in the workplace: A communication perspective on Millennials' organizational relationships and performance. *Journal of Business & Psychology*, 25, pp. 225-238.

Available: <u>http://eds.b.ebscohost.com/eds/pdfviewer/pdfviewer?vid=10&sid=af72df07-6702-4bb3-a2d5-dd466aa4bfe1%40pdc-v-sessmgr03</u>

Accessed: 26 February 2020

Northouse, P. G. 1997. Leadership: Theory and Practice, California: Sage Publications.

Northouse, P.G. 2011. *Introduction to Leadership concepts and practice*, 2nd edition, California: Sage Publications

Pfau, B. N. (2016) 'What Do Millennials Really Want at Work? The Same Things the Rest of Us Do', Harvard Business Review Digital Articles, pp. 2-6

Available at:

http://search.ebscohost.com/login.aspx?direct=true&AuthType=ip,cookie,shib&db=edb&AN=11868600 3&site=eds-live&scope=site

Accessed: 29 February 2020

Puni, A, Dr., Agyemang C, A., and Asamoah S E Dr. (2016) 'Leadership Styles, Employee Turnover Intentions and Counterproductive Work Behaviours', *International Journal of Innovation Research and Development*. Vol 5(1) pp 1 – 5

Available at:

https://www.researchgate.net/publication/290797675_Leadership_Styles_Employee_Turnover_Intenti ons_and_Counterproductive_Work_Behaviours

Accessed: 1st December, 2019

Qui, T., and Peschek B, S.(2012), 'The Effect of Interpersonal Counterproductive Workplace Behaviors on the Performance of New Product Development Teams', *American Journal of Management*, Vol 12 (1), pp 21-33

Available at: <u>http://www.na-businesspress.com/AJM/qiu_abstract.html</u> Accessed: 21st November, 2019

Rauf, Dr, K., Farooq, A., (20140, Adaptation and Validation of Counterproductive Work Behaviour Checklist (45 And 32) *International Journal of Novel Research in Humanity and Social Science*, vol 1(1) pp 39-49

Available at:

https://www.researchgate.net/profile/Asim_Farooq/publication/266385356_Adaptation_and_Validatio n_of_Counterproductive_Work_Behavior_Checklist_45_And_32/links/542ec7d90cf277d58e8ef27d/Ada ptation-and-Validation-of-Counterproductive-Work-Behavior-Checklist-45-And-32.pdf

Accessed: 20th January 2020

Seyal, A. H., and Rahman, N,M.(2014), 'Testing Bass & Avolio Model of Leadership in Understanding ERP Implementation amount Bruneian SMEs' *Journal of Organizational Management Studies* vol 2014 pp 1 -17

DOI: 10.5171/2014.869927

Shackleton, V. (1995), Business Leadership. Thomas Learning 2nd edition, Routledge London

Sheaffer Z. (2018), 'How do self-efficacy, narcissism and autonomy mediate the link between destructive leadership and counterproductive work behaviour', in *2018 International Academic Conference, Lisbon*. pp 214 – 245. DOI: 10.20472/IAC.2018.043.041

Singh, P., Rai, S. and Bhandarker, A. (2012) Millennials and the Workplace : Challenges for Architecting the Organizations of Tomorrow. New Delhi: Sage Publications Pvt. Ltd (Response Books). Available at:

http://search.ebscohost.com/login.aspx?direct=true&AuthType=ip,cookie,shib&db=e020mww&AN=456 918&site=eds-live&scope=site Accessed: 12 April 2020

Accessed: 13 April 2020

Small Firms Association (2015) Absenteeism costs small businesses over €490 million per annum. Available at: <u>https://www.sfa.ie/Sectors/SFA/SFA.nsf/vPages/News~Press_Releases_-_Archive~absence-costs-small-business-over-%E2%82%AC490-million-per-annum-17-02-2015?OpenDocument</u> Accessed: 3rd March 2020 Smola, K., & Sutton, C.D. (2002). Generational differences: Revisiting generational work values for the millennium. *Journal of Organisational Behaviour,* 23, pp. 363-382 Available at: <u>http://eds.b.ebscohost.com/eds/pdfviewer/pdfviewer?vid=13&sid=af72df07-6702-4bb3-a2d5-dd466aa4bfe1%40pdc-v-sessmgr03</u> Accessed: 29 February 2020

Smolovic-Jones, N., Smolovic O., Winchester, N., and Grint, K.,(2016). Putting the discourse to work: On outlining a praxis of democratic leadership development. Management Learning, 47(4) pp. 424–442. Available at: <u>http://oro.open.ac.uk/45691/1/dem%20praxis%20final%20submission.pdf</u> Accessed: 3rd February, 2020

Spector, P. E., and Fox, F. (2002), 'An emotion-centred model of voluntary work behaviour some parallels between counterproductive work behaviour and organizational behaviour', *Human Resource Management Review*. 12, pp 269 – 292

Available at: <u>https://www.sciencedirect.com/science/article/abs/pii/S1053482202000499?via%3Dihub</u> Accessed: 30th November, 2019

Spector, P. E., Fox, S., Penney, L. M., Bruursema, K., Goh, A., and Kessler, S. (2006). 'The dimensionality of counter productivity: Are all counterproductive behaviors created equal?' *Journal of Vocational Behavior*, 68, pp 446–460.

Available at:

https://www.sciencedirect.com/science/article/pii/S0001879105001284?casa_token=1at_k1v4Xw0AAA AA:SYEnjw-YoXnBhMidb_CDpvCV3yVKtv0hsQMeE7ap0-klCjWdquYFjbMfKvRjKgna21DTPjKFoBpP Accessed: 23rd January 2020

Sulea, C., Saul, F., Fischmann, G., and Sava, F, A. (2013), 'Abusive Supervision and Counterproductive Work Behaviour the Moderating Effect of Personality', *Journal of Personnel Psychology*. Vol 12(4) pp 196 – 200

Available at:

https://www.researchgate.net/profile/Florin_Sava/publication/257619942_Abusive_Supervision_and_C ounterproductive_Work_Behaviors_The_Moderating_Effects_of_Personality/links/56dd635008ae73b58 b3820c6.pdf

Accessed: 3rd December, 2019

Weinbaum, C. and National Defense Research Institute (U.S.) (2016) *The Millennial Generation : Implications for the Intelligence and Policy Communities*. Santa Monica, Calif: RAND Corporation (Research Report).

Available at:

http://search.ebscohost.com/login.aspx?direct=true&AuthType=ip,cookie,shib&db=e020mww&AN=144 2379&site=eds-live&scope=site

Accessed: 24 February 2020

Wood, J. C. (2019) 'Millennials in the Workplace: Mystery or Magic?', *Dispute Resolution Journal*, 74(1), pp. 111 - 120 Available at: <u>http://search.ebscohost.com/login.aspx?direct=true&AuthType=ip,cookie,shib&db=edb&AN=13863969</u> <u>6&site=eds-live&scope=site</u> Accessed: 28 February 2020

Wu, Mengying., Peng, Zhenglong., and Estay, Christophe., (2018), 'How destructive leadership influences compulsory organizational citizenship behavior', *Chinese Management Studies*, vol 12 (2) pp 453-468 Available at: <u>https://www.emerald.com/insight/content/doi/10.1108/CMS-10-2017-</u> 0298/full/pdf?title=how-destructive-leadership-influences-compulsory-organizational-citizenshipbehavior

Accessed: 24 April 2020

Zaharee, M. *et al.* (2018) 'Recruitment and Retention of Early-Career Technical Talent: What Young Employees Want from Employers: A study of the workplace attributes that attract early-career workers suggests that Millennials may not be so different from earlier generations', *Research-Technology Management*, p. 51. doi: 10.1080/08956308.2018.1495966.

Zenger, J., (2012), 'We Wait too long to Train Our Leaders', *Harvard Business Review*. December 17, 2012 Available at : <u>https://hbr.org/2012/12/why-do-we-wait-so-long-to-trai</u> Accessed: 29 February, 2020

Appendix 1

Counterproductive Work Behavior Checklist (CWB-C) (32-item)

How often have you done each of the following things on your present					
job?	Never Once or Twice		Once or Twice		Once or Twice per month
1. Purposely wasted your employer's materials/supplies	1	2	3	4	5
2. Purposely did your work incorrectly	1	2	3	4	5
3. Came to work late without permission	1	2	3	4	5
4. Stayed home from work and said you were sick when you weren't	1	2	3	4	5
5. Purposely damaged a piece of equipment or property	1	2	3	4	5
6. Purposely dirtied or littered your place of work	1	2	3	4	5
7. Stolen something belonging to your employer	1	2	3	4	5
8. Started or continued a damaging or harmful rumor at work	1	2	3	4	5
9. Been nasty or rude to a client or customer	1	2	3	4	5
10. Purposely worked slowly when things needed to get done	1	2	3	4	5
11. Taken a longer break than you were allowed to take	1	2	3	4	5
12. Purposely failed to follow instructions	1	2	3	4	5
13. Left work earlier than you were allowed to	1	2	3	4	5
14. Insulted someone about their job performance	1	2	3	4	5
15. Made fun of someone's personal life	1	2	3	4	5
16. Took supplies or tools home without permission	1	2	3	4	5
17. Put in to be paid for more hours than you worked	1	2	3	4	5
18. Took money from your employer without permission	1	2	3	4	5
19. Ignored someone at work	1	2	3	4	5
20. Blamed someone at work for error you made	1	2	3	4	5

21. Started an argument with someone at work	1	2	3	4	5
22. Stole something belonging to someone at work	1	2	3	4	5
23. Verbally abused someone at work	1	2	3	4	5
24. Made an obscene gesture (the finger) to someone at work	1	2	3	4	5
25. Threatened someone at work with violence	1	2	3	4	5
26. Threatened someone at work, but not physically	1	2	3	4	5
27. Said something obscene to someone at work to make them feel bad	1	2	3	4	5
28. Did something to make someone at work look bad	1	2	3	4	5
29. Played a mean prank to embarrass someone at work	1	2	3	4	5
30. Looked at someone at work's private mail/property without permission	1	2	3	4	5
31. Hit or pushed someone at work	1	2	3	4	5
32. Insulted or made fun of someone at work	1	2	3	4	5

Scoring

To score the CWB-C, sum responses to each item for the particular subscale as shown in the table below.

Subscale	Items to sum
Abuse	8, 9, 14, 15, 19, 20, 21, 23-32
Production deviance	2, 10, 12
Sabotage	1, 5, 6
Theft	7, 16, 17, 18, 22
Withdrawal	3, 4, 11, 13
Total	All items

(Fox and Spector, 2002)

Appendix 2

Leadership Style Questionnaire based on Northouse (2011)

According to your manager, employees need to be supervised closely, or they are not likely to do their work

Your manager includes you in the decision-making process

In complex situations, your leader lets you work problems out on your own

Your manager believes that it most employees in the general population are lazy

Your manager provides guidance without pressure

Your manager stays out of your way to do your work

Your manager believes rewards or punishments motivate you to achieve organisational objectives

Your manager provides frequent and supportive communication

Your manager allows you to appraise your own work

According to your manager; most employees feel insecure about their work and need direction

Your manager encourages you to accept responsibility for completing your own work

Your manager gives you complete freedom to solve problems on your own

According to your manager, they are the chief judge of the achievement of the members of the group

Your manager has helped your find your 'passion' or has tried to

According to your manager, in most situations, workers prefer little input from the leader

Your manager is effective as he/she gives orders and clarifies procedures

According to your manger, people will do a good job

Your manager generally leaves you alone

Appedix 3

Additional questions asked:

Please answer the following questions: 1) Can you confirm that you were born between 1981 and 1996? (Please circle) Yes No 2) I have based my answers on my manager's behavior: Yes No 3) I have identified another manager who showed signs another leadership style: Yes N/A No 4) I have exhibited counterproductive work behavior in all employment settings: No Yes 5) I exhibited counterproductive work behavior as a result of my managers leadership style: N/A Yes No 6) Is there anything you would like to add: